No. 46388-1-II

Court of Appeals, Div. II, of the State of Washington

Nina Firey,

Appellant,

v.

Tammie Myers, et al.,

Respondents.

Brief of Appellant

Kevin Hochhalter, Attorney for Appellant

Cushman Law Offices, P.S. 924 Capitol Way South Olympia, WA 98501 360-534-9183 WSBA # 43124

1. Introduction

In this construction defect case, the trial court improperly dismissed Nina Firey's claims on summary judgment, despite evidence in the record supporting the essential elements of her claims. The trial court chose to disregard the testimony of Firey's expert witnesses because it erroneously believed the experts' opinions were based solely on Firey's lay opinion of the quality of the work rather than on observable facts. Excluding the expert testimony, the trial court concluded that Firey had failed to present any competent evidence of breach or damages.

The trial court misunderstood the record before it. Firey's experts based their opinions on personal observation of the defective work, photographs of defective work before it was replaced, and other factual evidence of a type reasonably relied on by experts in their fields. Any perceived flaws in that factual basis should have gone to the weight of the opinions, not their admissibility. The opinions of Firey's experts should be presented to a jury, which can then give those opinions whatever weight is due. The trial court erred by weighing and disregarding the expert testimony at summary judgment. This Court should reverse the summary judgment orders and remand for trial.

2. Assignments of Error

Assignments of Error

 The trial court erred in disregarding the expert testimony of Vince McClure and Ben Hamilton.

 The trial court erred in granting summary judgment dismissal of Firey's claims.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

Whether the proffered declarations of Vince McClure and Ben Hamilton were admissible as expert opinion testimony under ER 702 and ER 703 when their opinions were based on personal observation of the defective work, photographs of defective work before it was replaced, and other factual evidence of a type reasonably relied on by experts in their fields (assignment of error #1).

Whether there were genuine issues of material fact that should have precluded the trial court from granting summary judgment (assignment of error #2).

3. Statement of the Case

Nina Firey purchased a foreclosed home in Lewis County in 2011. CP at 302. A pre-purchase home inspection revealed a number of issues that would need to be addressed to rehabilitate the home. CP at 103-24. Based on the inspection report, Firey prepared a project list. CP at 305-06. Firey had a budget of \$25,000 to complete the necessary repairs. CP at 302.

Firey hired K & T Construction.¹ *Id.* K & T agreed to work on a time and materials basis but also promised it could complete the work, in a professional and workmanlike manner, within Firey's budget. *Id.* Firey did not direct how the work should be performed, instead relying on K & T, as an experienced contractor, to determine the proper order and performance of needed repairs. *Id.*; CP at 203.

After K & T had been on the job a few weeks, Firey became concerned with the quality of K & T's work and believed she was being overbilled, so she fired K & T. *Id.*; *see* CP at 128. Before leaving the job, K & T executed a written warranty. CP at 307. Firey later discovered that K & T's work was defective and needed to be redone. CP at 138, 153, 303.

After firing K & T, Firey hired Crown Mobile Home $\text{Set-up}/\text{SVC}^2$ to complete the project. CP at 303. Crown agreed to work on a time and

¹ Respondents Kenneth and Doris Bannister and Tammie and Ron Myers are the owners of K & T Construction. Respondent State Farm Fire & Casualty is the bonding company for K & T Construction. These parties will be referred to, collectively, as "K & T."

² Respondents Michael and Joan Lyon are sole proprietors doing business as Crown Mobile Home Set-up/SVC. These parties will be referred to, collectively, as "Crown."

materials basis, promising it could complete the work, in a professional and workmanlike manner, within Firey's budget. *Id.* Crown replaced some, but not all, of K & T's work, which Crown said was defective. *Id.*; CP at 32. Crown did other work on the home for about one month, then left to work on other projects. CP at 303. Firey later discovered that Crown's work was defective and needed to be redone. CP at 138, 153, 303.

Crown referred Firey to Orozco Construction, who she hired to take over for Crown. CP at 303. Orozco also brought in AOK Construction and Chris Cook. *Id.* Orozco replaced some, but not all, of K & T and Crown's defective work. *Id.*; CP at 144-45. Orozco, AOK, and Cook did additional, defective work and caused damage to the existing house and other property. CP at 144-47, 303.

Firey fired Orozco, AOK, and Cook and hired Bar-None Construction to finish the project. CP at 138. With the help of Bar-None, Firey discovered the full extent of the defective work and other damages caused by K & T, Crown, Orozco, AOK, and Cook. *Id*.

Firey brought this lawsuit against K & T, Crown, Orozco, AOK, and Cook in November 2011. CP at 138-39. Firey has settled with Orozco and AOK. In March 2014, K & T moved for summary judgment dismissal of all of Firey's claims, arguing that Firey could not prove the existence of a contract, warranty, or breach. CP at 36. Crown also moved for summary judgment, making similar arguments. CP at 62.

In response, Firey argued that genuine issues of material fact existed as to all of the elements of her claims. *E.g.*, CP at 293-95. In support of this argument, Firey submitted her own declaration (CP at 301-07) and the declarations of Vince McClure (CP at 308-10), Ben Hamilton (CP at 311-24), and Robert Floberg (CP at 325-29). Firey's response also called the court's attention to a previously filed declaration of McClure. CP at 291.³

Firey testified to the existence and terms of the oral contracts she had with K & T and Crown. CP at 302-03. She presented a written warranty with K & T and a list of desired work that she had shown to both K & T and Crown at the time they were hired. CP at 305-07. McClure testified to industry standards for quality of work and the failure of K & T and Crown to meet those standards. CP at 310. Hamilton agreed and further testified, having seen the home prior to any work being done on it, that K & T and Crown caused damage to the existing home. CP at 312. McClure also testified, on the basis of multiple site visits and extensive review of discovery, photographs, Firey's testimony, and discussions with Hamilton and the Lewis County Building Department, as to the specific breaches by K & T and Crown and the cost of repair. CP at 1-12.

K & T's reply brief asked the trial court to strike or disregard the McClure and Hamilton declarations, arguing that they were speculative opinions based on hearsay and were thus inadmissible under ER 702 and ER 703. CP at 331. Firey did not have an opportunity to respond except at oral argument. RP, April 25, 2014, at 7. Crown's reply argued that Firey had failed to present evidence that Crown's work was defective. CP at 357.

³ This McClure declaration appears in CP at 1-32. It was also presented by Crown as an exhibit to the declaration of Michael DeLeo. CP at 243-75.

The trial court found there was a dispute of material fact as to the existence and terms of the parties' contract. RP, April 25, 2014, at 21:9-14, 25:16-17. The trial court denied the motion to strike as untimely. *Id.* at 14:1-3. The trial court, nevertheless, disregarded the testimony of Firey's experts, finding their opinions inadmissible to prove "who did what and what was defective" because the trial court believed the opinions were based on Firey's lay opinion as to what was defective rather than on observable facts. *Id.* at 12:14-13:25, 21:15-22:12.

The trial court certified its summary judgment orders as final judgments under CR 54(b). CP at 389-93. Firey appealed the summary judgment orders.

4. Summary of Argument

The trial court erred in disregarding the declarations of Vince McClure and Ben Hamilton. Those declarations are admissible as expert opinion testimony under ER 702 and ER 703. The experts' opinions were based on personal observation of the defective work, photographs of defective work before it was replaced, and other factual evidence of a type reasonably relied on by experts in their fields. Any perceived defects in the opinions or the facts upon which those opinions are based go to the weight of the testimony, not its admissibility. The declarations are admissible.

The record called to the attention of the trial court disclosed genuine issues of material fact. The summary judgment motions argued that Firey could not produce evidence of breach or damages. The declarations of McClure and Hamilton present admissible evidence on both elements. Other evidence in the record also presents specific facts supporting the elements of Firey's claims. This evidence creates a genuine issue of material fact. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment. This Court should reverse the summary judgment orders and remand for trial.

5. Argument

5.1 Summary judgment decisions, including evidentiary determinations, are reviewed de novo.

This Court reviews summary judgment orders de novo. *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998). The de novo standard also applies to evidentiary determinations made in conjunction with a summary judgment motion. *Id.* (applying de novo review to a trial court's decision to exclude portions of expert testimony). This is so because an appellate court is charged to engage in the same inquiry as the trial court and to construe all evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.* "An appellate court would not be properly accomplishing its charge if the appellate court did not examine all the evidence presented to the trial court, including evidence that had been redacted [or disregarded]." *Id.* The appellate court makes its own, independent determination of the admissibility of the evidence called to the attention of the trial court.

A party may move for summary judgment, as K & T and Crown did here, by pointing out to the court that the nonmoving party has no evidence with which to meet its burden of proof at trial. *Young v. Key Pharms., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). The moving party bears the initial burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact. *Id.* The burden then shifts to the nonmoving party to set forth specific facts supporting the essential elements of its claims. *Id.* The evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.* at 226. If "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any," reveal facts supporting the essential elements, there is a genuine issue of material fact, and the court must deny the motion. CR 56(c).

Actions involving oral contracts, such as the oral contracts at issue here, are "generally not appropriate for summary judgment because the existence of an oral contract and its terms usually depends on the credibility of witnesses." *Donatelli v. D.R. Strong Consulting Eng'rs, Inc.*, 179 Wn.2d 84, 93 n.1, 312 P.3d 620 (2013). It is axiomatic that on a motion for summary judgment the court cannot weigh the evidence or assess witness credibility. *E.g., -Am. Express Centurion Bank v. Stratman*, 172 Wn. App. 667, 676, 292 P.3d 128 (2012). Particularly in a *Young*-style summary judgment motion, the key question for the court is whether the nonmoving party has met its burden of production. *See Renz v. Spokane Eye Clinic, P.S.*, 114 Wn. App. 611, 623, 60 P.3d 106 (2002). If the record contains evidence disclosing a genuine issue of material fact, the issue must go to trial.

5.2 The trial court erred in disregarding the expert testimony of Vince McClure and Ben Hamilton when they had a factual basis for their opinions that the work of K & T and Crown was defective.

Generally, expert opinion testimony is admissible if (1) the expert is qualified, (2) the expert relies on generally accepted theories in the scientific community, and (3) the testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact. *Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, _____ Wn.2d ____, No. 89625-9, slip op. at 6, 2014 Wash. LEXIS 648 (Aug. 28, 2014). Although opinion testimony without any factual basis should be excluded, *Johnston-Forbes*, slip op. at 12, an opinion based on the facts presented to the expert by the party for whom they testify is admissible, *Cotton v. Kronenberg*, 111 Wn. App. 258, 266-67, 44 P.3d 878 (2002). Indeed, under ER 703 and 705, the factual basis of an expert's opinion does not even have to be revealed to the court prior to admitting the opinion into evidence. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 74, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). The rules assume that any flaws in the factual basis will be brought to the fact-finder's attention through cross-examination. ER 705; *State v. Eaton*, 30 Wn. App. 288, 294, 633 P.2d 921 (1981). Such flaws go to the *weight* of the expert's opinion, not its admissibility. *Johnston-Forbes*, slip op. at 13.

In its reply brief, K & T argued that the declarations of Vince McClure and Ben Hamilton would not be helpful to the trier of fact, claiming the opinions were not based on data or facts reasonably relied upon by experts in their fields. CP at 331-32. The trial court believed, in error, that *all* of K & T and Crown's work had been replaced before the experts observed it and, therefore, questioned how the experts could have a factual basis for their opinions that the work was defective. RP, Apr. 25, 2014, at 12:14-25 ("How could he make any decisions based upon the work that was completely taken out? That's the way that I read the materials that were presented here.").

The trial court was wrong. First, only *some* of K & T and Crown's work was replaced; McClure and Hamilton personally observed most of the defective work of which they testified. Second, McClure based his opinion of the work that he did not personally observe on information of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in his field. Third, any perceived flaws in

Brief of Appellant – 10

their opinions go to the weight of the opinions, not their admissibility. The McClure and Hamilton declarations are admissible.

5.2.1 McClure and Hamilton personally observed most of the defective work of which they testified.

One permissible factual basis for expert opinion testimony is personal observation of the facts. ER 703. Contrary to the trial court's misreading of the record, both Vince McClure and Ben Hamilton personally observed most of the defective work of which they testified. Hamilton personally observed the original condition of the home prior to any work by K & T or Crown. CP at 312. Hamilton also personally observed the condition of the home after the defendant contractors stopped working on the home and before Bar-None commenced its work. *Id.* Vince McClure personally observed those portions of K & T and Crown's work that remained after Bar-None commenced its work. *See* CP at 2-5 (at the time of McClure's two site visits, "all of K&T's work has been *or needs to be* redone," and "all of Crown Mobile's work was redone by Orozco *or still needs to be corrected.*" (emphasis added)).

McClure testified that the following repairs were still necessary to correct the defective work of K & T and Crown that remained at the time of his site visit:

• Remaining re-leveling work (both K & T and Crown did defective leveling work in different parts of the house);

- Remaining repairs in the utility room (both K & T and Crown did extensive defective work in the utility room; some of Crown's work replaced portions of K & T's work (CP at 32));
- Insulation work in crawl space (Crown installed crawl space insulation upside down);
- Restore finishes, insulation, and electrical up to code in 2nd floor (Crown removed sheetrock and insulation in 2nd floor without authorization);
- Siding and framing repair (K & T removed siding and improperly installed new building wrap and siding); and
- Repair of front porch (K & T tore out half of the porch without authorization).

Compare CP at 7-10 (listing the defective work performed by K & T, Crown, and others) *with* CP at 11 (listing all necessary repairs remaining to be done). Both McClure and Hamilton personally observed the defective work of K & T and Crown that necessitated these repairs. That defective work was still in place. McClure and Hamilton had an adequate factual basis for their opinion testimony that the work was defective.

5.2.2 For the work he did not personally observe, McClure relied on information of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in his field.

In addition to firsthand observation, ER 703 allows an expert to base his or her opinion on facts or data made known to the expert from some other source. "The essential purpose of ER 703 is to allow an expert to testify based on information not acquired firsthand." Robert H. Aronson & Maureen A. Howard, *The Law of Evidence in Washington*, § 8.03(8)(b) (5th ed., 2013). The expert's factual basis may include any admissible evidence, from whatever source. *See* ER 703. The expert may even rely on inadmissible evidence, so long as it is "of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field." *Id.* The expert can establish this reasonable reliance by his or her own testimony. *Canron v. Fed. Ins. Ca.*, 82 Wn. App. 480, 495, 918 P.2d 937 (1996).⁴ An expert can reasonably rely upon the facts presented by the party for whom the expert testifies. *Cotton v. Kronenberg*, 111 Wn. App. 258, 266-67, 44 P.3d 878 (2002).

Here, McClure relied upon a number of other sources in addition to personal observation.⁵ McClure testified:

In addition to my site visits, I reviewed photographs taken by Ms. Firey, her defect list, and a home inspection report on the house written before the construction started, various statements and declarations, including those by Mr. Hamilton, Clayton Larson, and Jason Reimer. I have reviewed cost information and estimates provided by Mr. Hamilton, Bar None Construction, and Ms. Firey. I have also reviewed the

⁺ See also State v. Eaton, 30 Wn. App. 288, 294, 633 P.2d 921 (1981) ("Although the determination of what data could reasonably be relied upon is ultimately for the court, the expert ordinarily is better qualified to make this decision in his field of expertise than is the judge, and if the judge is satisfied with the expert's general qualifications to express an opinion he usually should defer to the expert's advice on that point.")

⁵ Hamilton relied, for the most part, on personal observation. *But see* CP at 312, 316. His opinion was, appropriately, limited to the defective condition of the work that was in place when Firey hired Bar-None to repair the house. *See* CP at 312. Hamilton had an adequate factual basis for his opinions.

Lewis County Building Department file. Finally, I have discussed the remaining repairs and cost of repairs with Mr. Hamilton. ... This Declaration is based upon the documents noted above and other miscellaneous documents provided by Ms. Firey and her attorneys, plus visual observations of the house and site.

CP at 3. McClure later expanded on this factual basis:

I have been to Ms. Firey's home several times. I have discussed the Firey project with local building code officials in Lewis County. I have spoken with Ben Hamilton who was a follow on contractor for Bar None Construction, who came to fix some of the damage caused by these various Defendant Contractors. I have reviewed numerous documents and materials in this matter, including Ms. Firey's records, documents produced by the various defendants, and most recently summary judgment motions and supporting declarations filed by Defendants.

CP at 309. McClure testified that "[a]ny information I have relied upon in generating my report or in forming my opinion is of the type customarily and reasonably relied upon by other experts in my field." CP at 2, 309. McClure had an adequate factual basis for his opinion that the replaced work had been defective.

Firey's photographs and other documents provided a factual basis for McClure's opinion that the replaced work had been defective. Firey had over 300 photographs of the work performed by K & T, Crown, and other contractors. CP at 201. The record before the trial court reveals that Firey's photographs included numerous examples of the completed work of K & T and Crown before it was replaced by later contractors. *See* CP at 195-201 (in deposition, Firey used some of her photos to point out defective work, some of which had since been replaced). McClure could observe, through the photos, the condition of the completed work before it was replaced. McClure also reviewed Firey's records, which included narrative accounts that identified the work performed by each contractor. *See* CP at 130-49.

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