No. 46388-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

NINA FIREY,

Appellant,

v.

TAMMIE MYERS, et al.,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Michael S. DeLeo, WSBA #22037 Peterson Russell Kelly PLLC Attorneys for Respondent Lyon d/b/a Crown Mobile Homes Setup/SVC 10900 NE Fourth Street, Suite 1850 Bellevue, WA 98004-8341 425-462-4700

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

IV. **ARGUMENT**

A. **Evidentiary Standard.**

Where a defendant moves for summary judgment by showing that a plaintiff lacks evidence to make out its prima facie case, then the burden shifts to plaintiff, the party with the burden of proof at trial, to demonstrate a material issue of fact for trial.⁶⁰ "If, at this point, the plaintiff 'fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial,' then the trial court should grant the motion."61 If a plaintiff fails to meet its burden, then "there can be no genuine issue of material fact, since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial."62

While, on a motion for summary judgment, an appellate court places itself in the position of a trial court and considers the facts in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, if the nonmoving party does not meet its burden then summary judgment is proper. Specifically, the nonmoving party cannot rely on "mere allegations, denials, opinions or

Foung v. Key Pharms., Inc.,112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989).
 Young, 112 Wn.2d. at 225 (internal citations omitted).

conclusory statements" to establish a genuine issue of fact. 63 Testimony and bare assertions of fact and conclusions that amount to mere speculation are insufficient to raise a question of fact to overcome a motion for summary judgment. 64 Rather, the nonmoving party must set forth "specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." ⁶⁵ The Appellant did not set forth any specific facts that would create a genuine issue of material fact on key elements of her case and thus summary judgment was proper.

Appellant has Failed to Produce Any Evidence that Crown В. Mobile's Alleged Breach of Contract Caused Appellant Damages.

This litigation has been going on for over three years, and Appellant still has not produced any evidence that Crown Mobile's work on Appellant's House caused her damages. In order to prevail on a breach of contract claim under Washington law, a plaintiff must establish (1) the existence of a contractual duty, (2) defendant's breach of that contractual duty, and (3) the defendant's breach of that contractual duty caused damages to the plaintiff whom the duty is owed. 66 With respect to the

⁶³ Int'l Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 122 Wn. App. 736, 744, 87 P.3d 774 (2004) (internal citations omitted).

⁶⁴ Urban Dev., Inc. v. Evergreen Bldg. Prods, LLC, 114 Wn. App. 639, 652, 59 P.3d 112 (2002). 65 *Young*, 112 Wn.2d. at 225 (quoting CR 56(e)).

⁶⁶ Northwest Independent Forest Mfrs. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 78 Wn. App. 707, 712, 899 P.2d 6 (1995).

first two elements, Appellant has not produced <u>any evidence other than her bare</u>, <u>unsubstantiated testimony</u> establishing the terms of the oral time and materials contract with Crown Mobile and that Crown Mobile allegedly breached such contract. With respect to the third element, Appellant has not produced <u>any evidence whatsoever</u> creating a material issue of fact on the issue of whether Crown Mobile's alleged breach caused Appellant damages.

1. The Work Done by Crown Mobile on the House has been destroyed by the Subsequent Contractors Hired by Appellant.

The trial court was correct when it determined that there is no evidence establishing that Crown Mobile was the cause of the damages that Appellant now seeks because any evidence that might have existed has since been destroyed as a result of the manner and method in which Appellant managed her House repair project. Mr. McClure, Appellant's expert and key witness, testified that "each follow-on contractor demolished and replaced work of the previous contractor." With respect to Crown Mobile, Mr. McClure stated that either "all of Crown Mobile's work was redone by Orozco or still needs to be redone" but does not state

⁶⁷ Under Washington law, the following essential elements of a construction contract must be proven: subject matter, parties, terms and conditions, and price. *Urban Development, Inc. v. Evergreen Bldg. Products LLC*, 114 Wn. App. 639, 59 P.3d 112 (2002).

⁶⁸ CP at 154.

which is the case or cite to any specific work done by Crown Mobile that has not been destroyed.⁶⁹ Similarly, Mr. Hamilton of Bar None, Appellant's other key witness, testified that the defendant contractors "damaged each others' work". ⁷⁰ This is crucial – if subsequent contractors were damaging the work how can those damages be attributed to be Crown Mobile? Mr. Hamilton further stated that "I can't say who did which incorrect work, or why they did it/didn't explain more was needed for a correct repair."⁷¹

It is telling that both Mr. McClure and Mr. Hamilton failed to cite to any particular work done by Crown Mobile that purportedly caused Appellant damages. Instead they assign any damages to the "defendant contractors" generally. Although Appellant's experts rely on photographs taken by Appellant, these photographs are neither dated nor labeled by Appellant and thus any damage to the House in such photographs has and cannot be attributed to Crown Mobile. Without any photographs, documents or other evidence demonstrating Crown Mobile's alleged breaches caused the Appellant damages, Appellant's breach of contract claim against Crown Mobile must be summarily dismissed.

⁶⁹ CP at 5.

⁷⁰ CP at 312.

⁷² CP at 312; CP at 226.

Appellant specifically alleges that Crown Mobile breached its time and materials contract by improperly leveling the House, failing to install insulation up to code, performing defective work in the utility room, doing faulty plumbing and electrical work and removing sheetrock and insulation in the second floor without authorization. However, according to Appellant, Crown Mobile's alleged faulty work was replaced by others that were similarly alleged to have done faulty work. According to Appellant, Crown Mobile was the second of twelve contractors hired by Appellant to work on the House. Appellant, she then paid Bar None \$88,000 for work on the House including structural work that damaged prior work. Based upon the evidence presented by the Appellant, Crown Mobile's work was destroyed by the subsequent contractors that worked on the House.

Particularly, Orozco and AOK (Otterness), two of the subsequent contractors working on the House, purportedly did defective leveling work,

⁷³ Brief of Appellant at 22-22. Crown Mobile notes that with respect to this last alleged breach that Crown Mobile removed sheetrock and insulation without authorization, Appellant does not contend that this was problematic and was neither charged nor paid for this work. Appellant's additional allegations that Crown Mobile failed to finish unspecified work in the crawl space and that Crown Mobile's work had to be redone once the House was re-leveled are discussed in sections 2 and 3 below.

⁷⁴ CP at 5.

⁷⁵ CP at 210; CP at 218.

⁷⁶ CP at 6; CP at 218.

⁷⁷ CP at 5.

electrical and plumbing work.⁷⁸ They also "<u>damaged</u> previous work and work by others and then did not repair it" and did "other miscellaneous <u>damage</u>."⁷⁹ In addition to Orozoco and AOK, there were at least eight additional contractors that did work on the House after Crown Mobile. One of the Appellant's friends also did work on the House.⁸⁰ Thus, it is understandable that Appellant cannot prove her claims. Appellant essentially destroyed and repeatedly altered the allegedly defective work done by Crown Mobile, thereby eliminating any evidence pertaining to Crown Mobile's work on the House.

2. To the Extent that Additional Work was Needed to Complete Crown Mobile's Work on the House, Appellant was Not Damaged Because the Parties Had A Time and Materials Contract.

It is undisputed that Crown Mobile and Appellant entered into an oral time and materials contract.⁸¹ A "time and materials' contract is a form of open-ended cost reimbursement contract under which the contractor is paid merely for furnishing construction resources of labor and materials *without significant performance risk.*"⁸² A time and materials contract is typically used when there are no plans or

⁷⁸ CP at 9.

⁷⁹ CP at 9.

⁸⁰ CP at 194.

⁸¹ CP at 303.

⁸² Philip L. Bruner & Patrick J. O'Connor, Jr., *Bruner & O'Connor on Construction Law* § 2:20 (July 2013).

specifications that would allow a contractor to accurately estimate a fixed price. ⁸³ That was the case here. There were no written contracts, plans, specifications, estimates, quotes or other documents identifying the scope of Crown Mobile's work on the House. ⁸⁴ Crown Mobile performed the limited amount of work that was requested by Appellant and agreed upon by Crown Mobile. ⁸⁵ Crown Mobile charged Appellant for its time and materials. Therefore, to the extent Appellant contends that more work was required by Crown Mobile to complete a particular task, Appellant was not damaged because she never paid Crown Mobile for the additional time and materials required to complete such task.

In this case, Appellant specifically alleges that Crown Mobile should have done more work in the crawl space and install more insulation in the attic and crawl space. However, Appellant was not damaged as a result of this because she was neither charged nor paid Crown Mobile for the time and materials needed to complete such work. Indeed, Bar None's estimate includes charges for the additional excavation work in the crawl space and additional insulation work in the crawl space and attic that

⁸³ See e.g., Lake Mich. Contractors, Inc. v. Manitowoc Co., Inc., 225 F. Supp. 2d 791 (W.D. Mich. 2002).

⁸⁴ CP at 206.

⁸⁵ CP at 303.

⁸⁶ Brief of Appellant at 21-22.

Appellant complains of.⁸⁷ Thus, Bar None (and <u>not</u> Crown Mobile) was compensated for the additional time and materials required to install additional insulation and dig out more of the foundation.⁸⁸

3. Any Damage to the House As A Result of the Re-leveling by Bar None Was Not Caused By Crown Mobile.

Additionally, Appellant alleges that she was damaged by Crown Mobile because the work done by Crown Mobile had to be redone once the House was re-leveled. With respect to Crown Mobile, Appellant specifically alleges that the underflooring in the dining room and the upstairs needed to be redone after the re-leveling of the House by Bar None. However, the evidence shows that it was the Appellant's decision on how to approach the extensive repairs required on the House, not Crown Mobile's decision. Appellant admits that she told the various contractors including Crown Mobile what work she wanted to be done on the House. Appellant even told Bar None which work she wanted to be done from "her list of items" before Bar None was able to convince Appellant to re-level the foundation before proceeding with any more work on the House. Once Appellant adhered to Bar None's advice, and

⁸⁷ CP at 318.

⁸⁸ With respect to the insulation, Bar None indicates that more was needed, not that it was installed upside down as Appellant suggests. CP at 31.

⁸⁹ Brief of Appellant at pgs. 21-22.

⁹⁰ CP at 303.

⁹¹ CP at 153.

agreed to re-level the House, much of the work that had previously been done was damaged and needed to be redone as a result. ⁹² This is not Crown Mobile's fault. Appellant cannot recover damages from Crown Mobile merely because Appellant initially failed to start renovations on the House from the ground up and later decided to reverse course.

4. <u>Appellant Fails to Distinguish Allegedly Defective Work</u> from Conditions of the House at the Time of Her Purchase.

Crown Mobile and the other defendant contractors cannot be held responsible for the damages existing at the time Appellant purchased the House. For instance, Appellant acknowledges that there were no vents for the plumbing when Appellant purchased the House, 93 yet this is a repair included in Bar None's estimate and which Appellant seeks to recover as damages for from the defendant contractors. 94 Further, although the Inspection Report points to numerous problems with the House at the time it was purchased by Appellant, it is incomplete. Neither the plumbing nor the electrical systems in the House were fully inspected. 95 Given the overall condition of the House at the time it was acquired by Appellant, and the details in the report, these systems had problems. Appellant

⁹² CP at 153-154.

⁹³ CP at 205.

⁹⁴ CP at 158.

⁹⁵ CP at 111-115.

cannot hold Crown Mobile and the other defendant contractors responsible for problems with the House at the time it was acquired by Appellant.

In addition, according to Appellant's expert Mr. McClure, the House had previously been remodeled at least twice and probably several other times. As part of these previous remodels, extensive work was done to the House which included raising walls, changing the roof line and adding windows to the House. The House had also been vacant for approximately two years prior to Appellant purchasing it. The culmination of these factors (i.e., that the House had been extensively remodeled and then left vacant for approximately two years) could have easily led to other damages. Thus, in addition to being unable to determine which specific damage was caused by which contractor, Appellant also cannot distinguish the alleged damage she now claims from the conditions that she accepted when she purchased the House. The damage existing at the time the house was acquired cannot be attributed to work done on the House by Crown Mobile and the other contractors.

C. Appellant's Conclusory Statements are Insufficient to Defeat a Motion for Summary Judgment under CR 56(e).

Rule 56(e) provides in relevant part that a court may consider a fact undisputed where a party fails to properly support an assertion of fact

⁹⁶ CP at 226.

⁹⁷ CP at 226.

⁹⁸ CP at 96-101.

and grant summary judgment.⁹⁹ In this instance, Appellant responded to Crown Mobile's motion for summary judgment with conclusory statements and bare assertions of fact. For example, Mr. Hamilton's declaration in support of Appellant's response provides the following:

The work of the Defendant Contractors that preceded Bar None were well below minimum acceptable standards. Most of the work needed to be removed or replaced. In addition, there was considerable damage done to Nina Firey's existing home as a result of what these Defendant Contractors did. I know because I remember what condition of the home general was before Ms. Firey purchased it. 100

Mr. Hamilton's bare assertion that the defendant contractors damaged Appellant's House is not supported by any specific examples attributed to Crown Mobile or any other contractor. Additionally, Mr. Hamilton states that he remembers the condition of the House when it was purchased by Appellant, yet he notably fails to describe any specific condition and distinguish from his later visits. This is insufficient to create a material issue of fact to under Rule 56(e) that can defeat summary judgment.

Similarly, Mr. McClure's testimony in response to Crown Mobile's motion for summary judgment contains unsubstantiated and generalized statements that the defendant contractors somehow caused

¹⁰⁰ CP at 312.

⁹⁹ CR 56(e).

Appellant damages. Mr. McClure makes the general statement that "the Defendant Contractors in this case did not do their work to minimally acceptable standards and as a result Ms. Firey suffered damages." Yet, this conclusion is not supported by any specific facts. Mr. McClure does not identify any of the work done by Crown Mobile that led to any damages Appellant now seeks. Mr. McClure admits that Crown Mobile's work was altered or destroyed by the time he inspected the House and he fails to identify any photo of Crown Mobile's allegedly defective work before it was altered or destroyed.

In fact, neither Mr. Hamilton nor Mr. McClure personally observed the work done by Crown Mobile as Appellant suggests in her Brief. ¹⁰² By their own admission, the work done by Crown Mobile had been destroyed or materially altered by Orozco and AOK prior to Appellant retaining them. ¹⁰³ Accordingly, Appellant's bare assertion that her experts observed Crown Mobile's work is not supported by the facts. Under Rule 56(e), this is insufficient to create a material issue to overcome Crown Mobile's motion for summary judgment.

¹⁰¹ CP at 310.

¹⁰³ CP at 5.

¹⁰² Brief of Appellant at pg. 11.

D. Appellant's Unjust Enrichment Claim against Crown Mobile is Unfounded Because the Parties had a Contract and Appellant Has Not Produced Any Evidence that Crown Mobile's Work Was Paid for Defective Work.

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